FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/6/2022 9:45 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101047-8 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

John Earl Erickson and Shelley Ann Erickson, *in propria persona*,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

VANESSA POWER AND STOEL AND RIVES AND SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, JOHN GLOWNEY AND WILL EIDSON, THOMAS REARDON, AND LANCE OLSEN,

Defendants/Respondents

APPELLANTS' **AMENDED** PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APRIL 25, 2022 DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, RECONSIDERATION DENIED, MAY 24, 2022

On Appeal from King County Superior Court No. 20-2-08633-9 KNT Judge Ken Schubert Presiding

I. INTRODUCTION

John Earl Erickson (Mr. Erickson) and Shelley Ann
Erickson (Ms. Erickson), collectively, Petitioners or the
Ericksons, hereby petition the Supreme Court of Washington
for review of the April 25, 2022 UNPUBLISHED Decision of
the Court of Appeals (Decision), Appendix 1, pursuant to Rule
13.4 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP). The Petition
for Review was timely under RAP 13.4(a). It was submitted
within 30 days after the filing of the May 24, 2022 Order
Denying the Ericksons' Motion for Reconsideration (Order),
Appendix 2. The Petition for Review was over-length. Leave
to file a Petition for Review in compliance with the word count
limit was granted by Clerk's Letter dated June 27, 2022.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) for the reasons set forth below:

- I. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it is of substantial public interest that the use of forged documents in litigation is fraud on the court which must be rejected.
- II. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the demonstrated violations of Petitioners' Due Process Rights by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals raise significant questions of law under Article One, Section 3 of the *Constitution of the State of Washington* and the Fourteenth Amendment to the *Constitution of the United States*.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners' Independent Action recognized in CR 60(c) was filed on May 13, 2019, titled *Erickson v. Deutsche Bank*National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage

Loan Trust 2006-4, King County Superior Court Case No.

19-2-12664-7 KNT (the Independent Action) in accordance

with Wiese v. CACH, LLC, 189 Wash.App. 466, 478, 358 P.3d 1213 (Wash. App. 2015) citing Corporate Loan & Sec. Co. v. Peterson, 64 Wn.2d 241, 243-244, (Wash. 1964), the Ericksons sought relief from the July 17, 2015 Order Granting Summary Judgment in Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 v. Erickson, King County Superior Court Case No. 14-2-00426-5 KNT (the Foreclosure Action) based upon fraud on the court.

Wiese v. CACH, LLC, 189 Wash.App. at 478, ¶27, acknow-ledged the availability of independent actions to obtain relief from judgments and orders procured by fraud. ("¶27 Typically, vacation of a judgment is sought under CR 60. However, Washington courts recognize that vacation of a judgment deemed to be void or procured through fraud may also be sought through an independent action in equity or a collateral attack.")

On June 16, 2020, the Superior Court granted summary

judgment against the Petitioners in the Independent Action, without notice that the Motion to Dismiss would be converted to a Motion for Summary Judgment to allow Petitioners to respond under CR 56, applying the time bar of one year under CR 60(b) and invoking the doctrines of res judicata/collateral estoppel. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment in the Independent Action in No. 81648-9 on November 29, 2021. The Ericksons' Petition for Review was filed on December 29, 2021 and is pending before this Court.

New evidence was ultimately discovered, when, after years of communicating with numerous homeowners who had been affected by the appearance of endorsement displaying the initials of one Jess Almanza, purporting to be an officer of more than one entity including, but not limited to, Washington Mutual Bank and Long Beach Mortgage Company, the Ericksons and all other affected homeowners were unable to

locate the individual identified as Jess Almanza. Mr. Almanza was purportedly one of the endorsers of the document purported to be the Ericksons' March 3, 2007 "original Note". CP 2445-2447.

In August, 2018, the Ericksons were informed by a Minnesota homeowner that an individual named Jess Almanza had a LinkedIn profile, identifying him as being employed by Bank of America in Simi Valley California. The Ericksons obtained the Nora Declaration dated August 18, 2018 (CP 2338-2442) and provided it to Attorney Mary C. Anderson, who was investigating their allegations of fraud on the court.

Action on May 13, 2019 but was constrained to withdraw when the Superior Court Judge in the Independent Action threatened her with sanctions for raising the issue of fraud on the court in seeking relief from the Foreclosure Action. The Ericksons then sought to reorganize their financial affairs in Chapter 13

bankruptcy proceedings. The Ericksons were unsuccessful in their efforts to reorganize their indebtedness in Chapter 13 proceedings in 2019 and 2020 and returned to litigation in the Superior Court. The Ericksons proceeded on their own behalf.

On June 4, 2019, Ms. Erickson received an email from Ronaldo Reyes, an officer of Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, purported Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action and the resulting Defendant in the Independent Action, informing her that STOEL RIVES, LLP (STOEL RIVES) was representing SPS in the Independent Action, notwithstanding Respondent Power's appearance on behalf of Deutsche Bank National Trust Company. See CP 233. Deustche Bank National Trust Company, in its purported capacity as Trustee, was, in actuality not represented by counsel. The identity of SPS as the corporate party actually represented by counsel appearing in the name of Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee of Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 was concealed

from Petitioners and the Superior Court, depriving the Ericksons of the opportunity to counterclaim in the Foreclosure Action or bring claims in the Independent Action against SPS.

On May 7, 2020,¹ on their own behalf, the Ericksons filed *Erickson v. Power, et al.*, King County Superior Court No. 20-2-08633-9 against Defendants Vanessa Power ("POWER"), STOEL RIVES, Select Portfolio Services, Inc. ("SPS"), Will Eidson ("EIDSON") and John Glowney ("GLOWNEY") (hereinafter the "Respondents"). The Ericksons learned on June 4, 2019, in the course of the Independent Action, that STOEL RIVES and the named lawyers employed by STOEL RIVES were actually representing SPS in the Foreclosure Action and the Independent Action. *See* CP 233.

On June 4, 2020, the Defendants SPS, STOEL RIVES, Power, Eidson, and Glowney appeared by STOEL RIVES and

¹ The Ericksons' Motion for Reconsideration in this appeal erroneously stated that the present action was filed on April 27, 2020.

answered the Ericksons' May 7, 2020² Complaint and admitted that STOEL RIVES represented SPS in the Foreclosure Action and the Independent Action. CP 2333-2336 at 2333, line 21-2334, line 3. The June 4, 2020 admission of the actual representation of SPS by STOEL RIVES and its named attorneys is a judicial admission and is binding in the subject proceedings. The entity identified as

Thereafter, the Ericksons located a private investigator who had special investigative tools available, not available in the public domain. The private investigator was successful in locating Mr. Almanza who was residing more than five (5) hours from Simi Valley, California. *See* CP 2445-2447. According to Jess Almanza, his LinkedIn profile, retrieved in August, 2018 had not been updated since he was no longer seeking employment. *See* Almanza Declaration, ¶10. CP 2496.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the proceedings

² *Id*.

Summary Judgment misstating that the Superior Court had denied the Ericksons' Rule 56(f) Motion on March 26, 2021 thereby preventing the Ericksons from presenting evidence obtained from the Almanza Declaration. The Court of Appeals wrote, "Because the Ericksons did not [show cause for delay in discovering evidence regarding the Almanza endorsement] . . ., they fail to show the trial court abused its discretion by denying the CR 56(f) motion. [FN 50]. . . "FN 50 reads "Because we affirm on this basis, we do not reach the trial court's conclusion that Almanza's declaration did not present a genuine issue of material fact."

It is an undisputed procedural fact that the Superior

Court did indeed consider the Almanza Declaration. The

Ericksons were entitled to the benefit of all reasonable

inferences arising from the Almanza Declaration as

nonmovants in the proceedings for summary judgment. Tr.

40:10-16 (Appendix 13) demonstrates that the Almanza Declaration was considered by the Superior Court. *See also* the March 26, 2021 Order Granting Summary Judgment, CP 3508-3515, CP 3508, line 23, ". . . The Court also considered the pleadings and records on file . . ." and CP 3506, line 18, item 13: "Plaintiffs' Declaration of Jess G. Almanza." The Court of Appeals' stated grounds for affirming the Superior Court that is entirely unsupported by the record, to wit, that Summary Judgment was granted because Petitioners' CR 56(f) Motion was denied.

The issue of whether or not the Almanza Declaration created a genuine dispute of material fact was plainly before the Court of Appeals which ignored and disregarded the Superior Court's error of law in concluding that the Almanza Declaration did not create a genuine dispute of material fact.

The Almanza Declaration establishes that Mr. Almanza was not working at the location of Washington Mutual Bank in

Stockton, California when the endorsement was placed on the Ericksons' purported "original Note" and he did not place the endorsement on the Ericksons' purported "original Note". CP 2496, ¶9 and CP 2497, ¶20.

Reasonable inferences arise from the Almanza Declaration that the endorsement which suddenly appeared in the summary judgment proceedings in the Foreclosure Action is a forgery in violation of RCW 9A.60.010(3) and (4) and RCW 9A.60.020 and is an invalid endorsement under RCW 62A.1-201(b)(19) and RCW 62A.1-201(b)(41). The Almanza Declaration is newly discovered evidence that the document purporting to be Petitioners' "original Note" was not lawfully endorsed and transferred under RCW 62A.3-201(b) and RCW 62A.3-203, a process known as negotiation, and could not be lawfully enforced under RCW 62A.3-301 by the alleged "holder" of the instrument based upon evidence that the Almanza "endorsement-in-blank" is a forgery.

In *McDonough v. Smith*, 139 S. Ct. 2149, 2155, 204 L. Ed. 2d 506 (2019), the United States Supreme Court recognized that Due Process Rights are violated by the use of fabricated evidence. The Ericksons maintain that violations of their Due Process Rights by the use of forged documents and perjured declarations, reinforced by false statements by officers of the court were apparent in the record on appeal and deprived them of their property rights. Respondents entirely failed to address the violation of the Ericksons' Due Process Rights by the use of forged documents authenticated by perjured declarations in the previous and present actions.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it is of substantial public interest that the use of forged documents in litigation is fraud on the court which must be rejected.

The application of Washington law defining fraudulent instruments and the applicable provisions of the Washington

Uniform Commercial Code in cases involving debt instruments purportedly secured by real estate is an issue of substantial public interest because the use of forged documents for the fraudulent purpose of claiming the right to the remedy of foreclosure must be rejected in the public interest.

Jess G. Almanza's Declaration (CP 2495-2525 at ¶¶6, 7, 8, 9, and 20 and Exhibit 2) establishes, on his personal knowledge, that he did not sign or authorize the signing of the endorsement appearing on the document purporting to be the Ericksons' "original Note." Accordingly, the Almanza Declaration raises material issues of fact as to whether or not the endorsement on the document purporting to be the Ericksons' original Note is a forgery.

RCW 9A.60.010(3) and (4), set forth in Appendix 5, defines fraudulent instruments.³ RCW 9A.60.020(1)(a) and

³ RCW 9A.60.010 defines fraudulent instruments as prohibiting acts: (3) To "falsely alter" a written instrument means to change, **without** authorization by anyone entitled to grant it, a written instrument . . . or

(b), set forth in Appendix 6, makes it a crime to commit forgery and to uttered forged documents as genuine.⁴ As to the documents at issue, the definitions in the Washington Uniform Commercial Code at RCW 62A.1-201(b)(19) and (41), set forth in Appendix 7, define a genuine instrument as being free of forgery and unauthorized signatures, reiterating that unauthorized signatures include forgeries.

There is a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether the document purporting to be the Ericksons' "original Note" is a genuine and whether the use of Mr. Almanza's initials was authorized. Summary judgment cannot be granted when

⁽⁴⁾ To "falsely complete" a written instrument means to transform an incomplete written instrument into a complete one by adding or inserting matter, without the authority of anyone entitled to grant it; . . . (Emphasis added.)

⁴ RCW 9A.60.020(1)(a) and (b) provide: Forgery.

⁽¹⁾ A person is guilty of forgery if, with intent to injure or defraud:

⁽a) He or she falsely makes, completes, or alters a written instrument or;

⁽b) He or she possesses, utters, offers, disposes of, or puts off as true a written instrument which he or she knows to be forged.

evidence of a genuine dispute of material fact is submitted by the nonmoving party.

In the face of evidence of forgery, Respondents produced no evidence. Assertions made by in the Foreclosure Action and the Independent Action by argument or by declaration without personal knowledge (i.e., the Eidson Declaration CP 1009-1016) that the entity identified as the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action and named as Defendant in the Independent Action was in possession of the "original Note" are not admissible evidence.

Whether or not the document is the "original Note", the issue of fact as to whether the entity is in possession of the document and entitled to enforce it, requires negotiation and transfer in accordance with Article Three of the Uniform Commercial Code.

RCW 62A.3-201, set forth in Appendix 8, provides, in part, that "negotiation requires transfer of possession of the

instrument and its indorsement by the holder. If an instrument is payable to bearer, it may be negotiated by transfer of possession alone."

There is no evidence in the record of any litigation between the Ericksons and the purported foreclosure claimant that the document purporting to be the original Note was lawfully endorsed. There is newly discovered evidence that the endorsement appearing on the document was not authorized by the purported endorser and is, therefore, a forgery. There is no evidence in the record of the prior proceedings and in the proceedings for which review is sought that the "original" Note was endorsed and transferred⁵ to Deutsche Bank National Trust

⁵ RCW 62A.3-201(b) provides that negotiation requires endorsement and transfer of the instrument when the instrument was originally payable to an identified person. Here, the identified person is Long Beach Mortgage Company, not Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4. There is no evidence of negotiation and transfer to the "Trust" in the record of the Foreclosure Action in which judgment was entered on the basis of a forged endorsement and an attorney's claim of possession, without personal knowledge.

Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 as required by RCW 62A.3-201(b).

RCW 62A.3-203, set forth in Appendix 9, provides, in part:

Transfer of instrument; rights acquired by transfer.

(a) An instrument is transferred when it is delivered by a person other than its issuer for the purpose of giving to the person receiving delivery the right to enforce the instrument.

. .

(c) Unless otherwise agreed, if an instrument is transferred for value and the transferee does not become a holder because of lack of indorsement by the transferor, the transferee has a specifically enforceable right to the unqualified indorsement of the transferor, but negotiation of the instrument does not occur until the indorsement is made.

(Emphases added.)

There is no evidence in the present action or the actions which preceded the present action that the instrument purporting to be the Ericksons' "original Note" was lawfully endorsed and transferred. To avoid the evidence of forgery, Respondents argued that the Almanza endorsement was

"ratified" but there is no evidence in the record that Long
Beach Mortgage Company (the original payee) or Washington
Mutual Bank (WaMU) as its purported successor in interest
ratified the Almanza endorsement which Almanza did not
himself authorize. WaMU was closed by the FDIC on
September 25, 2008. CP 542-583. There is no evidence that
the FDIC as purported successor in interest to Washington
Mutual Bank, ratified the purported endorsement of the
"original Note" by Jess Almanza.

Respondents relied on the unpublished decision in *Renata v. Flagstar Bank, FSB* (Wash. App. 2015) (Appendix 12). *Renata* appears to permit ratification of an unauthorized (forged) endorsement, but there is no evidence of ratification in the record of the Foreclosure Action, the Independent Action or this case on appeal nor has the entity with the authority to ratify a forged endorsement ever been identified.

RCW 62A.3-204(d), Appendix 10, provides, in part:

Indorsement.

(d) If an instrument is payable to a holder under a name that is not the name of the holder, indorsement may be made by the holder in the name stated in the instrument or in the holder's name or both, but signature in both names may be required by a person paying or taking the instrument for value or collection. (Emphasis added.)

As the parties against whom the instrument purporting to be the "original Note" is sought to be enforced, the Ericksons are not only entitled to require a valid endorsement before their homestead of over 40 years is foreclosed for payment of the instrument, but Washington law imposes a duty on the Ericksons to insist on the lawful endorsement of the instrument under *Koppler v. Bugge*, 168 Wash. 182, 184-185, 11 P.2d 236 (Wash. 1932). In *Koppler v. Bugge*, supra, this Court held:

Where one advances money to an alleged agent of the holder to satisfy a mortgage and the notes which such mortgage secures, it is his duty at his peril to see that the person whom he pays as agent is either (a) in possession of the instruments, or (b) has special authority to receive payment, or (c) has been represented by the owner and holder of the securities to have such authority. (Emphasis added.)

The person entitled to enforce the instrument is described in RCW 62A.3-301, set forth in Appendix 11. The person with the right to enforce the instrument was not correctly identified in the Foreclosure Action and did not appear in the action as a corporate entity represented by counsel. The Respondent law firm and named attorneys have judicially admitted that they represented SPS in the Foreclosure Action and appeared on behalf of SPS in the Independent Action in the Respondents' June 4, 2020Answer (CP 2333-2336). The authorized agent, Ronaldo Reyes, of Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, identified as (purported) Trustee of Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4, admitted that SPS is the party represented by the Respondent law firm and named lawyers (CP 233). The identity of the entity appearing by counsel in the previous matters, SPS, was concealed by the Respondents, preventing the Petitioners for obtaining a full and fair adjudication of their claims and

defenses in both actions.

The use of forged documents to establish the right to a remedy, uttered and fraudulently authenticated by counsel for the prevailing party in civil actions, is fraud on the court and must be rejected as a matter of law. Renata v. Flagstar Bank, FSB (unpublished), produced as Appendix 12, is not precedential for a very good reason. Renata holds that an unauthorized endorsement, i.e., a forgery, can be ratified. That proposition is contrary to precedential Washington law. See Ritterhoff et al. v. Puget Sound Nat. Bank of Seattle, 37 Wash. 76, 79, 79 P. 601, (Wash. 1905) which affirmed . . . " a decree . . . rendered in accordance with the prayer of the complaint, adjudging said note, as against respondents, to be false, fraudulent, a forgery, and null and void, and forever enjoining and restraining appellant from asserting any demand against respondents, or either of them, upon said pretended note, and from transferring or dealing with said pretended note

as against respondents, or either of them." See also *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wash.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (Wash. 2013) in which this Court held:

We hold that, **consistent with due process**, RCW 4.28.185(1)(b) encompasses the tortious actions of nonresident notaries when a notarized forgery is affixed to a document affecting interests in immovables. (Emphasis added.)

But in *Renata*, it appears that the argument for ratification was upheld by the Court of Appeals. Perhaps there was evidence of ratification in *Renata*, but here, there is none. Instead, there is evidence of fraud on the court.

Discovery of new evidence of fraud on the court renders collateral estoppel inapplicable. In *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 186 Wash.App. 715, 722, ¶ 14, 346 P.3d 771 (Wash. App. 2015) recited the doctrine of collateral estoppel, citing *Hadley v. Maxwell*, 144 Wash.2d 306, 27 P.3d 600 (2001). For purposes of this Petition for Review, the fourth factor, "(4) application of the doctrine must not work an

injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied", is sufficient. "The failure to establish any one element is fatal to the proponent's claim. *LeMond v. Dep't of Licensing*, 143 Wash.App. 797, 805, 180 P.3d 829 (2008) . . ."

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co. 186 Wash.App. at 722, ¶ 14.

Respondents relied on *Renata v. Flagstar Bank, FSB*, an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Appendix 12, and argued that Jess Almanza's unauthorized signature had been "ratified" **without any evidence of negotiation** under RCW 62A.3-201 in the Foreclosure Action, in the Independent Action or in the present action. See Tr. 18:14-19; Tr. 18:23-25; 19:12-25, Appendix 13. In the present case, there was no evidence of ratification whatsoever in the Foreclosure Action, the Independent Action or the present action against SPS and the named law firm and lawyers.

The judge in the Foreclosure Action relied on Eidson's

May 19, 2015 Declaration (CP 1009-1016) in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment and his representation at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment that the document purporting to be the Ericksons' Note displayed a valid endorsement, that Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 was in possession of the Note (a negotiable instrument under RCW 62A.3-201, et seq.) The judge in the Independent Action granted Summary Judgment under the doctrine of Collateral Estoppel based on the judgment in the Foreclosure Action without notice of conversion of the Motion to Dismiss to the Motion for Summary Judgment, in violation of Petitioners' Due Process Rights.

In determining whether application of collateral estoppel will work an injustice, "'Washington courts focus on whether the parties to the earlier proceeding had a full and fair hearing on the issue.'" *Hadley*, 144 Wash.2d at 311, 27 P.3d 600

(quoting Neff v. Allstate Ins. Co., 70 Wash.App. 796, 801, 855 P.2d 1223 (1993)).

In State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co., 186 Wash.App. at 725-726, 346 P.3d 775-776 (Wash. App. 2015), the Court of Appeals examined the equitable principle of the doctrine of collateral estoppel requiring "focus on whether the parties to the earlier proceeding had a full and fair hearing on the issue[s]".

In this case, there is newly discovered evidence of fraud on the court which was not available to the Ericksons due to the concealment of the identity of the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action and the true identity of Defendant in the Independent Action, combined with the difficulty in locating Jess Almanza, whose Declaration is evidence that his endorsement on the instrument is a forgery, it would be unfair to deny the Ericksons damages resulting from fraud on the court.

The Court of Appeals in State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co., 186 Wash.App. 725-726, 346 P.3d 775-776 explained at ¶ 23, "... A number of courts have concluded that the opportunity to introduce evidence not before the fact finder in the prior action is a new procedural opportunity that precludes application of collateral estoppel. See e.g. Rye v. *United States Steel Mining Co.*, 856 F.Supp. 274, 279 (E.D.Va.1994) ('Because the defendants were unable to or precluded from introducing evidence which may have affected the Court's ruling [in the prior case] ... the Court does not believe it would be appropriate to preclude this issue from being litigated in [later] actions.); Strietmatter v. Procter & Gamble Co., 657 F.Supp. 548, 550 (D.N.M.1983)..."

Newly discovered evidence of the concealed identity
actual client of the STOEL RIVES Defendants and the new
discovery of the fact that Jess Almanza was never in the offices
of Washington Mutual Bank at any time at or after the time that

the Ericksons' refinancing occurred, and his unequivocal statement that he did not endorse the Ericksons' "original Note" makes the application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel fundamentally unfair.

B. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the demonstrated violations of Petitioners' Due Process Rights by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals raise significant questions of law under Article One, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Washington and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States..

Petitioners' Due Process Rights were violated by the Superior Court's March 26, 2021 Order Granting Summary Judgment when the Petitioners were denied the benefit of all reasonable inferences arising from the Almanza Declaration to which they were entitled in proceedings under CR 56. There is more than sufficient evidence of fraud on the court in the record on appeal which gives rise to genuinely disputed issues of material fact to warrant a trial by jury for damages.

The Ericksons lawfully and constitutionally preserved

their right to trial by jury by timely filing their Demand for Trial by Jury of Twelve Persons and paying the fees for the trial by jury (CP 2439). Furthermore, the Ericksons contend that, as a matter of law, fraud on the Court by the production of a document displaying a forged endorsement-in-blank resulted in a foreclosure judgment which deprived them of their property rights in violation of their Due Process Rights.

McDonough v. Smith, supra; Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank, supra, which recognize that Due Process Rights are violated by the use of fabricated evidence to deprive a party of liberty (McDonough v. Smith) or property (Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank).

The Ericksons maintain that violations of their Due

Process Rights by the use of forged documents and perjured

declarations, reinforced by false statements by officers of the

court are apparent in the record on appeal and, if not corrected

on appeal, will deprive them of their property rights.

Respondents entirely failed to address the violation of the

Ericksons' Due Process Rights in their Brief to the Court of Appeals.

The April 25, 2022 Decision of the Court of Appeals misapprehended the record of the proceedings for summary judgment in the Superior Court because the Superior Court did not grant summary judgment based on its denial of the Ericksons'CR 56(f) Motion to Continue Summary Judgment Proceedings. The Superior Court considered the Almanza Declaration and erred by failing to give the Ericksons, as the nonmoving parties, the benefit of all reasonable inferences arising therefrom as required in proceedings under CR 56.

The Court of Appeals overlooked the procedural fact that the Superior Court considered the February 21, 2021

Declaration of Jess G. Almanza and concluded that the Declaration did not present a material issue of fact. As a matter of law, the Court of Appeals deprived the Ericksons' of their Due Process Rights by affirming the Superior Court on a basis

that is not supported by the record and then disposing of the appeal on the grounds of collateral estoppel when the Ericksons presented newly discovered evidence of fraud on the court.

Concealment of identity of Respondent SPS, the party actually represented by Respondent STOEL RIVES and its named attorneys, deprived the Ericksons of full and fair proceedings in the Foreclosure Action required by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article One, Section 3 of the *Constitution of the State of Washington* by committing fraud on the court.

Evidence that the endorsement of Jess G. Almanza is a forgery created a material issue of fact was considered by the Superior Court in the present case. The Superior Court deprived the Ericksons, as nonmovants, all reasonable inferences arising from the Almanza Declaration. The Ericksons Due Process Rights were then ignored and

completely disregarded by the Court of Appeals when the Court of Appeals disposed of Petitioners' appeal on grounds completely unsupported by the record.

Review must be granted to provide the Ericksons with their Due Process Rights which have thus far been violated by the use of and allowing or ignoring the use of fabricated evidence in all previous court proceedings. Collateral estoppel cannot override the Ericksons Due Process Rights.

V. CONCLUSION

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