FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/4/2022 2:22 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101047-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

John Earl Erickson and Shelley Ann Erickson,

Appellants

v.

Vanessa Power, et al.,

Respondents

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 82755-3-I

Anne Dorshimer, WSBA #50363 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 206.624.0900

Attorney for Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Ericksons' Petition Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Ericksons' attempt to articulate an issue of substantial public interest fails. The Ericksons contend Stoel Rives perpetrated fraud on the court by representing entities without the authority to foreclose. But the issue of the authenticity of the Note, and the authority of the Trust to foreclose on the Note, has been litigated and resolved multiple times over. In light of that, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's order

granting summary judgment for Stoel Rives on the basis of collateral estoppel. *See* Appendix 1 (Opinion) at pp. 10-14.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons' claims because the claims rely on the same, previously-litigated allegation that the Trust does not hold the original Note and does not have standing to foreclose. Collateral estoppel prevents re-litigation of an issue after the party estopped has had a full and fair opportunity to present its case. Hanson v. City of Snohomish, 121 Wn.2d 552, 561, 852 P.2d 295 (1993). Collateral estoppel requires four elements: (1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) same parties or parties in privity; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice on the party against whom it is to be applied. Hadley v. Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306, 311-12, 27 P.3d 600 (2001).

In their petition for review, the Ericksons focus only on the fourth element. *See* Petition at 22-23. They contend that application of collateral estoppel would work an injustice because: (a) the identity of Stoel Rives' client was previously "concealed;" and (b) they "newly-discovered" Mr. Almanza, whose signature endorsed the Note in-blank. *Id.* at 25-26. Neither assertion has merit.

Stoel Rives publicly represented the Trust (Deutsche Bank as Trustee) as counsel of record in both *Erickson II* and *Erickson III*. When the Ericksons named the Trust's loan servicer (Select Portfolio Servicing) as a party in this case, *Erickson IV*, Stoel Rives appeared as counsel of record. There has been no concealment, as the Ericksons contend. Regardless, as the Court of Appeals properly found, the "basis of this argument is that Deutsche Bank and its agents committed fraud by foreclosing without holding the note." Opinion at 12. "Final judgments entered in the previous cases already resolved this issue." *Id.* Not only is the assertion unsupported by the factual record, it is of no legal import.

The Ericksons also contend that the Court of Appeals erred by declining to reach the question of whether the Ericksons failed

to establish fraud, and in that context, declining to consider the Almanza Declaration. *See* Opinion at 14 n. 74 ("Because we can affirm on this ground [collateral estoppel] alone, we decline to reach the question of whether the Ericksons failed to establish fraud."); Opinion at 9 n. 50 ("Because we affirm on this basis [denial of CR 56(f)], we do not reach the trial court's conclusion that Almanza's declaration did not present a genuine issue of material fact."). There was no error, and there is no substantial issue of public interest.

Because collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons' claim against the Trust's agents, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming dismissal on that ground alone. And the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's denial of the Ericksons' CR 56(f) motion. *See* Opinion at 5-9 (citing at n. 44 trial court's finding that the Ericksons did not "identify a single thing that you haven't been able to obtain in discovery [or] explain why you haven't been able to obtain it in discovery."). In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not need to consider the

Almanza Declaration or reach the trial court's conclusion that the declaration did not present a genuine issue of material fact." Opinion at 9 n. 50.

The ruling is wholly supported by the record. That is because the Ericksons have had ample time and opportunity to pursue this claim, over multiple cases and many years, but have opted not to do so until after-the-fact. Although the Ericksons have challenged authenticity of the Note since 2010, and have called into question the endorser since 2015, the Ericksons never pursued discovery until after summary judgment briefing in this case closed in 2021. See Opinion at 7-9; CP 3237-38 (Ericksons admit that they knew of the potential significance of Almanza during foreclosure action in 2015); CP 2297 (Ericksons assert facts related to Almanza in opposition to summary judgment in CR 60 action in 2018); CP 1929-30 (Ericksons identified Almanza as a potential witness in November 2020). The trial court's denial of the Ericksons' CR 56(f) motion, and the Court of Appeals' ruling affirming that order, are sound. See Bavand v. OneWest Bank, 196 Wn. App. 813, 821-22, 385 P.3d 233 (2016) (affirming trial court's denial of CR 56(f) motion); Opinion at 7-9 (detailing facts supporting denial of Ericksons' CR 56(f) motion).

Collateral estoppel does not work an injustice where, as here, the Ericksons have raised the identical claim four times. As the Court of Appeals correctly found, the Almanza Declaration is "merely an extension of the same argument and evidence presented in *Erickson III*." Opinion at 13. The Ericksons have had more than a full and fair opportunity to litigate their claim regarding authenticity of the note. The Ericksons identify no substantial public interest that warrants this Court's review.

B. The Ericksons' Petition Does Not Raise Significant Constitutional Issues.

The Ericksons' petition does not raise significant issues under the Washington Constitution. The Ericksons claim that their due process rights were violated by the Court of Appeals' resolution of the appeal on collateral estoppel grounds, without consideration of the Almanza Declaration. There was no error.

The Ericksons contend that the Court of Appeals erred because it "misapprehended the record of the proceedings for summary judgment in the Superior Court because the Superior Court did not grant summary judgment based on its denial of the Ericksons' CR 56(f) Motion to Continue Summary Judgment Proceedings" and that the Court of Appeals "overlooked the procedural fact that the Superior Court considered the [Almanza declaration] and concluded that the Declaration did not present a material issue of fact." *See* Petition at 29. The Ericksons are wrong.

The Opinion plainly addresses the trial court's disposition of the Almanza Declaration. At note 50, the Opinion states that "[b]ecause we affirm on this basis [collateral estoppel], we do not reach the trial court's conclusion that Almanza's declaration did not present a genuine issue of material fact." *See* Opinion at 9, n. 50. As such, the Court of Appeals did not, as the Ericksons argue, "misapprehend" the trial court's disposition of the Almanza Declaration. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals

addressed the Almanza Declaration in detail in the context of the CR 56(f) motion. *See* Opinion 8-9. The Opinion's disposition of the Almanza Declaration was proper and does not present a due process issue.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Stoel Rives, and denying the Ericksons' CR 56(f) motion. Likewise, the Court of Appeals properly denied the Ericksons' motion for reconsideration. The Ericksons provide no valid basis for this Court to grant review. Respondents respectfully request that the Court deny the Ericksons' petition.

This certifies that this Answering Brief contains 2621 words pursuant to RAP 18.17.